The Case and Facts 

Gerald Bunney was convicted of first degree murder and 

kidnapping. He appealed his conviction and sentence to the 

Second District Court of Appeal. The district court affirmed, 

but certified that its decision passed on a question of great 

public importance. 

The facts. 

At trial the victim's mother, Donna Jones, testified that 

in September 1988 she and her young daughters Tonya McGrew, aged 

5, and Jennifer McGrew, were living in a trailer at a mobile 

home park on Nebraska Avenue in Tampa. R.55 Residing with them 

was a young woman named Lois Zeigler. Ms. Jones worked nights 

at a convenience store, and Ms. Zeigler had agreed to babysit in 

exchange for room and board. R.55-57, 71 

Ms. Jones was acquainted with Mr. Bunney through a mutual 

friend who worked at the convenience store. On several occa- 

sions Mr. Bunney had visited the trailer to see Lois Zeigler, 

and he had played with the children. R.57-58 

Ms. Zeigler, who also had met Mr. Bunney through Ms. 

Jones's friend, had known him about four weeks. R.71-72 He had 

dropped by the trailer to see her three or four times and he'd 

asked her out, but she had declined. R.73 On the last such 

occasion, in early September 1988, Mr. Bunney had driven Ms. 

Zeigler and the children to do the household's laundry. He 

asked her out again, but again she said no, he was not her type. 

R.83 When Mr. Bunney pressed, she told him he was fat and ugly. 
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She'd not seen him after that day. R.84 

May McWaters, a shop owner at Tampa's Ybor Square, knew Mr. 

Bunney from his work as a security guard there. She testified 

that she had run into him at a lounge on the evening of Friday, 

September 23, 1988. R.108-109 Mr. Bunney came to her table and 

they chatted. Ms. McWaters recalled that Mr. Bunney was an 

amiable fellow, but that night he was angry over being fired 

from his security job. Mr. Bunney was drinking, she said, but 

did not appear to be intoxicated. He left the lounge at about 

2:30 a.m. R.110- 111 

1 

That night Ms. Zeigler was out and Ms. Jones was home with 

the children. R.58-59 She checked on them in their room at 

about 1:30 or 2:OO a.m., then fell asleep as she lay on the 

living room couch watching television. R.59-60 When she awoke 

and checked the children at about 9:00 a.m., only Jennifer was 

there. R.60 

Ms. Jones searched the trailer for Tonya, then telephoned 

her sister, who alerted the Hillsborough County Sheriff's De- 

partment. R.61-62 Sheriff's deputies searched for Tonya in the 

trailer park and its vicinity well into Saturday night, without 

success. R. 64, 67-68 

The next morning, Donald Pennington repossessed Mr. Bun- 

ney's car. Mr. Pennington was manager of operations for the 

I 
I 

In fact, though 
plained to him about 
been fired. R.124-125, 

1 Mr. Bunney's supervisor had recently com- 
his job performance, Mr. Bunney had not 
128, 141-142 

2 
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private security firm that employed Mr. Bunney, and he was Mr. 

Bunney's direct supervisor. R.121-122, 123 That summer he had 

sold Mr. Bunney a used automobile, with the purchase price to be 

paid in installments. R.123 Mr. Bunney had fallen behind in the 

payments. R.124 

Early on Sunday, September 25, 1988, Mr. Pennington repos- 

sessed the car from the driveway of the home of Mr. Bunney's 

parents, with whom Mr. Bunney lived. Mr. Pennington testified 

that as he drove the car away he saw Mr. Bunney run from the 

house in an effort to stop him. R.124-125 

Mr. Pennington left the automobile at his sister's house so 

that Mr. Bunney could not find it, and returned to his apart- 

ment. R. 126 Later that morning Mr. Bunney appeared at the 

apartment and tried to convince Mr. Pennington to return the 

car. Mr. Pennington advised that he would give Mr. Bunney ten 

days to pay what he owed on it. R.128-129 

Q. What did he say in response to that? 

A .  He said, "By then, it will be too late." 

Q. When he said, "By then, it will be too late," what did 

A. I asked him, I said, "Well, what's it going to be, a boy 

you tell him at that time? 

or a girl?" as if he had got someone pregnant. 

Q. Go ahead. 

A. And he said, "NO, this is serious." At that point, I 
started from small offenses, like shoplifting, battery, 
assault, and worked my way up, and every time I would say 
something, he would say, "No, no, no." I got up to--1 asked 
him if he killed someone; then he got real quiet. 

* * * * * *  

3 
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A. After he got real quiet, I thought it was still like a 
And, after a couple more ploy to try to get the car back. 

minutes he said, you know, that the body was in the trunk. 

Q. Did he tell you whose body was in the trunk? 

A. He told me, at the time, that it was a six-year old girl 
that he had taken from a trailer. 

R.129-130 

Mr. Pennington suggested that the two of them go get the 

vehicle, and they set out in Mr. Pennington's car. R.132 En 

route Mr. Pennington, who was driving, noticed a sheriff's 

patrol car. He followed it for awhile, then motioned it over. 

R -132-1 33 

When the patrol car stopped, Mr. Pennington got out and 

After related to the deputy what Mr. Bunney had tqld him. R.133 

hearing Mr. Pennington's story, the deputy approached Mr. Pen- 

nington's car and asked Mr. Bunney to step out. 

As he arrived in my location at the right rear of the vehi- 
cle, I asked him, "What is this guy"--and I pointed towards 
Mr. Pennington or nodded towards him, I believe--"What is this 
guy talking about?" Jerry replied to me, "I did it." 

R. 155 

Other deputies were called to the scene, and Mr. Pennington 

When they opened the guided them to Mr. Bunney ' s car. R. 133-1 34 

trunk, Tonya McGrew's body lay inside. R.86-91, 93 An autopsy 

performed that day revealed that she had died by asphyxiation 

due to strangulation. R.101 

Mr. Bunney was interviewed by a sheriff's detective later 

that morning. A videotape of the interview was shown to the 

jury at Mr. Bunney's trial. R.195-234 In it, Mr. Bunney re- 

4 



counted that at about 1:30 or 2:OO a.m. on the night Tonya 

disappeared he had dropped by the trailer to see Lois Zeigler. 

When no one answered his knock at the living room door, he 

entered the trailer through another, unlocked, door. R.199-200 

He saw Ms. Jones asleep on the couch, but Lois was nowhere 

to be found. R.200-201 He checked to see if she was sleeping in 

the girls' room. "She wasn't there. And, like I said, the next 

thing I know, you know, I don't see her. The next thing I know, 

I pick up Tonya[ . 3 'I R. 202 

Mr. Bunney placed the child, half-asleep, on the front 

passenger seat of his car, and drove north from the trailer 

park. R.205, 207-209 Eventually, he pulled off the road and 

parked. R.209 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

Q. Okay. Then what did you do? You pulled off somewhere up 

A. Right, and I'm not really sure. I can say one thing, 

there, right? 

that I also neglected to-- 

Q. Sure. 

A. --to say, is during--during the course of me being there, 
getting her and driving, there was like--1 wouldn't say 
something funny in my head, but it was like static all around 
me. 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. You know, so, that was something I neglected to say. 

Q. Well, what does that mean? I--clarify that for me. 

A. All right, you know how your foot or hand goes to sleep 
and when it starts to wake back up, how it feels, the shock? 

Q. Yeah. 

A. That's what was going through my head. 

5 
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Q. Okay. 

A. And, also, I forgot to tell you, one part of my medical 
history--well, I guess I would still be considered an epi- 
leptic to a certain extent. I've been off medication for, 
like, four years. 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. I used to take Dilantin. 

Q. Okay. 

A. But, I used to have fainting spells and dizzy spells. 

Q. Okay. 

A. You know, nothing really extremely major. 

Q. Do you take any prescription medication right now? 

A. Just--well, I do. I--I take some of my mom's Darvon for 
headaches, you know, something like that, you know, or for a 
toothache, but it's not one of these everyday, you know-- 

R. 209-21 0 

After Mr. Bunney pulled off the road, he sat a few minutes 

and watched Tonya sleeping on the car seat. 

A. And she's--she's just laying there, you know, just 
sleeping away and, well, she woke up a little bit, and next 
thing, you know, I'm choking her. 

Q. How do you choke her, Jerry? 

A. Like this (indicating). 

Q. Around what, her neck? 

A. Yes. 

* * * * * *  

A. And as I was--as I was choking her, it's like I said, I 
I couldn't stop. was trying to figure out why I'm doing it. 

Q. Did she wake up? 

A. Yes, she did. 

6 



Q. Did she say anything to you or make any statements or-- 
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A. No, she--like I said, I didn't give her a chance to. 
But, as--when I'm doing it, I'm sitting there, why am I doing 
it, and I couldn't stop. I mean, it was like--it was like I 
was upset or something. You know, it was total rage, I guess, 
you know, but it wasn't about her, it wasn't about her family, 
Lois, nobody, you know, of the general family. I just--you 
know, that's the only thing I can remember, is I felt anger. 

Q. Okay. Towards her? 

A. No, not toward her. That's what I was trying to figure 
out, why I couldn't let go. 

Q. Okay. 

A. Because I didn't want to hurt her. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And, all of a sudden, my hands were locked. 

R.213-215 

When Mr. Bunney realized what he had done, he did not know 

what course to take. He could think only to put the child's 

body in the trunk of the car and drive around until he could 

sort out where to put her, or whether to call the police, or 

what. R. 21 6-21 7 

A. I--1 just drove around trying to--trying to find a place 
where I could put her and think, you know, of what to do, you 
know, if to call the sheriff's department and tell them what 
I had done or get ahold of a friend, or something that might 
know what to do. And I just--I could--1 could not think 
clearly for the life of me. I mean, it's just-- 

R.217 

Mr. Bunney drove for the rest of the night. Finally, near 

dawn on Saturday, he returned home to his parents' house. 

A. And I went in my house, and I got undressed and I laid 
down. 

7 
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Q. Where was Tonya now? Still in the trunk? 

A. Yes. As I said, I couldn't figure out what to do with 
her. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I figured, you know, the body would be safe. I didn't 
want no animals or anything could get to it, you know, and it 
would give me time enough to think what I could do. And so, 
I laid down and got back up that morning about 10:00, maybe, 
something like that, and I opened up the trunk and--at first, 
I thought it was a nightmare. I thought I had dreamed it all. 

Q. Uh-huh. 

A. And, the first think I did, I ran out to the car and 
opened it up. I was hesitant, but I opened it up. I looked 
in there and I saw her and I knew it wasn't a nightmare. And, 
I went driving off; I went to go see--I went to two friends. 
I went to see my girlfriend. 

R. 220-221 

As Mr. Bunney sat visiting his friends, his thoughts never 

strayed from Tonya. He wanted to tell his friends what he had 

done, but he couldn't bring himself to. R.221-222 That night, 

Saturday, he spent driving in circles again, trying to decide 

what to do. 

A. And, I'm still thinking, what am I doing? I'm driving, 
I'm driving and I'm driving, and I got this little baby in the 
back of the trunk that's dead, that's thrashing around right 
in the back--in the back of the trunk. 

Q. You got a baby bouncing around back there? 

A. No, I was just figuring she probably was, you know, 
because of some of the bumps I was hitting. 

Q. Yeah. 

A. I mean, I'm like--I'm going out of my mind. 

Q. Yeah. 

A. And, I got back home this morning about, oh-- 

a 
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Q. This morning, the 25th, Sunday morning? 

A. Right. I got home, I think it was right about 2:30. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I think, about 2:30, quarter to three, maybe. And, I 
laid down, and I'm like, you know, I mean, it's just flying at 
me--it's getting to the point, it's like I'm trying to go pick 
up the phone to call the sheriff's department, and I can't. 
So, I doze off for a second and the next thing I know, I hear 
my car start up. 

Q. No kiddin'. Whoa-- 

A. I'm like--I'm like what? I'm dreamin'. So, I come 
haulin' butt out of my bedroom; I don't have any clothes on, 
except my underwear, come haulin' butt and my Firebird's going 
down the dirt road, like, about--like about 60 miles an hour 
up the dirt road with Major Pennington. 

Q. Who is Major Pennington? 

A. My boss. 

R. 224-225 

The charges. 

Mr. Bunney was indicted on two counts, the first for kid- 

napping Tonya "with the intent to inflict bodily harm or terror- 

ize" her; the second for murdering her from a premeditated 

design or while engaged in the felony of kidnapping. R.639 

The trial. 

1. The defense. 

The state presented the above-described evidence in its 

case-in-chief. Prior to trial the court, over defense counsel's 

strenuous objection, granted the State's motion in limine prohi- 

biting the defense to present eyewitness and expert testimony 

9 



regarding Mr. Bunney's epilepsy on the basis of this Court's 

decision in Chestnut v. State, 538 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1989). R.35- 

I 
I 
I 

38 

After the State rested its case and the defense motion for 

acquittal was denied, the defense was permitted to proffer what 

the excluded testimony would have shown. R.234, 235-236, 238, 

240 

I 
I 
I 
I 
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Three of Mr. Bunney's friends, Linda Yanchunis, her boy- 

friend Randy McAlpine, and Luke King, would have testified that 

on numerous occasions they had observed Mr. Bunney "pause in his 

speech, essentially blackout and then continue talking, and when 

he continued talking, he was disoriented, had difficulty knowing 

were he left off." These are symptoms of petit ma1 seizures. 

R.240-241 

Mr. Bunney's adoptive mother, Doris Bunney, also would have 

testified: 

She will testify that when she received Gerald at the age of 
three months from the Department of Rehabilitative Services, 
that he was asthmatic. She will testify that he was always a 
slow learner. She would testify that in his childhood, he was 
hyperactive and as a child he was, I believe int he first 
grade, he was treated through the public school system with a 
drug by the name of Ritalin, Your Honor. 

She will testify that because the public school insisted on 
treating him with Ritalin that he was taken from the public 
school and placed in a Christian school. That the Christian 
school was essentially a one room school house and that the 
defendant remained in the Christian school for the balance of 
his education. 

She will testify, in addition, Your Honor, that at about the 
age of fourteen or fifteen, that the defendant began to have 
what were later diagnosed to be epileptic seizures, that he 
would blackout, that he would have seizures where he would 

10 



fall down and, on many occasions, he struck his head severely 
and caused injury to himself, striking his head. 

She would say that the defendant was treated and he was 
treated with a drug by the name of Dilantin, Your Honor. She 
will also testify, via family history, that the mother was-- 
the defendant's natural mother was a chronic alcoholic, was 
apparently an alcoholic during her pregnancy, that at the time 
she received Gerald from HRS, that she was institutionalized, 
and at the time of the HRS placement with Mrs. Bunney, that 
the natural mother was in one of the Florida State hospitals, 
mental hospitals, Your Honor. She would further testify that 
the mother was diagnosed to be a paranoid schizophrenic. 

R. 241 -242 

The last defense witness would have been Dr. Michael Maher, 

a forensic psychiatrist. R.242 

Dr. Maher would testify that he's reviewed all of the HRS 
records concerning Gerald Bunney's dependency. He reviewed 
all the police reports, all of Gerald Bunney's school records, 
numerous depositions. He has reviewed and consideredfin his 
opinion, the psychological testifying of Dr. Harry Krop, K - r -  
0-p, a clinical psychologist, Your Honor; in addition, that he 
conducted clinical interviews with the defendant and the 
defendant's mother. 

On the basis of the information which was supplied to him, 
he would render the opinion, at the time of the offense, the 
defendant, within the realm of medical certainty, was not able 
to form the intent to premeditate--pardon me--was unable to 
form premeditation to kill, and he would further opine that he 
was unable to form the specific intent required for the 
offense of Kidnapping, Your Honor. 

Dr. Maher bases this on the psychological testing of Dr. 
Harry Krop. That psychological testing, Your Honor, would 
indicate the defendant is borderline retarded. It would 
indicate that the defendant has organic brain damage and the 
particular type of brain damage that the defendant has, 
probably, is a result of fetal alcohol syndrome, Your Honor. 

Your Honor, Dr. Maher would further testify that Ritalin, 
when given to brain damaged children, often increases the 
brain damage. This could have resulted in increasing the 
severity and depth and breadth of Mr. Bunney's brain damage. 

He would, Dr. Krop--pardon me--Dr. Maher, would further 
testify that the static and numbness that the defendant talked 

11 
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about on the videotape and in his statement to the police is 
consistent with a pre- or post-seizure activity. 

* * * * * *  

Your Honor, further, Dr. Maher would testify that based on 
the Health and Rehabilitative Services records which were 
supplied to him, would show very clearly, Your Honor, that the 
mother was a chronic alcoholic during her pregnancy. Those 
HRS records also indicated that Mr. Bunney was taken from his 
mother when his mother was passed out in a bar. 

Dr. Maher would testify that Gerald Bunney suffers from the 
fetal alcohol syndrome, which, of course, resulted in brain 
damage from the time of his birth. 

Based on Dr. Krop' s report, which was supplied to Dr. Maher, 
Dr. Maher would testify that the defendant has a mental age of 
thirteen and because of his brain damage, he has impaired 
judgment and reasoning abilities, that the static, the numb- 
ness in his head that he opines is a result of some sort of 
seizure activity. Dr. Maher would be in a much better posi- 
tion to explain this. 

And, based on all the information he has, he would opine 
that the defendant ' s statements to the police, in other words, 
what the defendant describes on that videotape, are consistent 
with a pre- or post-epileptic seizure. On the basis of this, 
he will opine that the defendant could not, did not, beyond or 
within the realm of medical certainty, could not form the 
intent to premeditate, as I mentioned earlier, nor did he have 
the specific intent necessary for the crime of Kidnapping. 

* * * * * *  

The doctor would further opine that because of his brain 
damage and the impulsivity that the defendant essentially 
testified to and the burst of anger that the defendant refers 
to, all are consistent with the activities of a brain damaged 
individual. 

R.242-245 

The trial judge reaffirmed his exclusion of the testimony, 

and the defense rested. R.249, 251 

2. Closing argument. 

Prior to trial, and again before closing arguments, the 

12 



I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

defense moved the court to preclude the prosecutor in his argu- 

ment from straying outside the evidence or reasonable inferences 

therefrom, and from making arguments calculated to excite the 

jurors' passions. Specifically, the defense was concerned with 

the prosecutor's intention to suggest that Mr. Bunney had 

planned to sexually molest the child when he took her from the 

trailer. The prosecutor responded: "I think the State should be 

allowed to draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence and 

the one that Mr. Alldredge has spoken to, I will be drawing that 

reasonable inference." R.262 The motions were denied. R.257- 

260, 654, 655-656 

Thereafter, over defense objections and motions for mis- 

trial, the prosecutor was permitted to include the following in 

his closing argument to the jury: 

He told Detective McDermott later how it happened, and he knew 
why it happened. He just didn't want to tell Detective 
McDermott why it happened. I snapped. I had no reason. I 
don't know why. 

R.280 

The main point of contention by Mr. Alldredge: Why? From 
the opening statement, why? We don't know why. Again, I 
don't have to prove to you why. Mr. Alldredge has continued 
to harp on that: Why? Why? 

What about this for a reason why? She knew him. What's he 
going to do? Take her back home, drop her off so she can tell 
her mother, Jerry picked me up in the middle of the night and 
took me out somewhere. She 
knew him. 

What about that for a reason why? 

He had no intention of taking her back. She knew him. Is 
that reasonable? Is that a reasonable inference you can draw 
from the evidence as to maybe why? You bet it is. And, why? 
What about this? You're fat 
and you're ugly. He's angry. He goes over there at 2:OO in 

What about getting back at Lois? 
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the morning. Angry about his job, according to Miss McWaters. 
He had been told earlier by his boss about his poor perfor- 
mance. Frustrated about Lois not going out with him. Angry 
and frustrated. So, he takes Tonya, takes his frustrations 
and his anger out on Tonya. 

R. 285 

Now, he says, he's got static. He's had a few drinks. 
Couldn't that be a little buzz? Feeling good when he leaves 
the bar, maybe? Wants to go by and see Lois. He wants to go 
by and see Lois at 2:OO a.m. 

How is Lois going to be dressed, possibly, at 2:OO a.m.? 
Ready to go out? Good chance, she's in her night clothes. 

Where's Lois going to be at 2:OO in the morning? In bed? 
Possibly. Why does he want to go see Lois at 2 : O O  in the 
morning, a girl, who he has asked out about three or four 
times, a girl who, it's obvious, he's sexually attracted to? 

MR. ALLDREDGE: Objection, Your Honor, move for a mistrial. 

THE COURT: Objection, overruled. Motion for mistrial is 
denied. 

MR. BENITO: Why does he want to see Lois at 2:OO in the 
morning? What are his plans for Lois when he gets over there? 
Why is he sneaking in at 2:OO in the morning to see Lois? He 
gets in there, though, see, and Lois isn't there. So, his 
original plans for Lois, whatever they might be, he cannot 
carry out. So, he takes Tonya instead. 

Remember what he said in his taped statement? She was 
sleeping curled up on the front seat. If he 
wanted to kill her, why didn't he just strangle her immedi- 
ately out there in the front? Why drive her five miles away, 
to Grand Central Station, as Mr. Alldredge would have you 
believe? Why drive her to this desolate area five miles away? 

She's lying on the front seat, curled up, half asleep. Why 
couldn't he just, if he wanted to kill her, why couldn't he 
just reach over and grab her at that time and choke her? 

He turned her 
over on her back. He's in his driver's seat. She's in the 
passenger's seat. He turns her over on her back. Her head's 
against the door. The lower portion of her body, clad in her 
little nightgown and underwear, is right here. (indicating). 

What are the plans of this 
man who, about half an hour earlier, had went over to see Lois 

All right. 

Recall what he said on the taped statement. 

What are his plans at that time? 
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Zeigler, who went over to see Lois Zeigler who he had asked 
out four times? And 
before he can carry out any plans to terrorize her, is it 
reasonable to infer that she screamed and he grabber her and 
he choked her, and, he killed her? 

What are his plans for that little girl? 

MR. ALLDREDGE: Excuse me. Your Honor, I would object at 
this point. I would move for a mistrial. I would ask the 
opportunity to supplement the record for appeal, Your Honor. 
It's urgent that I do so. 

THE COURT: Motion denied. What the lawyers say is not 
evidence. 

MR. ALLDREDGE: Your Honor-- 

THE COURT: You have the right to draw reasonable inferences 
and make your own argument, and you have rebuttal. 

MR. ALLDREDGE: Your Honor, the record on appeal is going to 
remain silent as to the position of Mr. Benito's hands. I 
would like the record supplemented to show that Mr. Benito's 
hands were at essentially his pubic level. Your Honor, I 
think it's vital for the record to show that. 

R.286-288 

3. The jury deliberations. 

1 
I 
I 

When sending the jury to deliberate the trial judge advised 

the two alternate jurors that they were in "temporary recess". 

Thus, the judge told them, if the jury were to find Mr. Bunney 

guilty of first degree murder they would still be alternate 

jurors for purposes of the penalty phase of the trial. In the 

meantime, he said, they were free to leave the courtroom so long 

as they remained in the vicinity of the courthouse and kept the 

bailiff advised of their whereabouts. R.334 

About two hours after the jurors retired they asked to be 

furnished the videotape of Mr. Bunney's statement to the detec- 

tive in the jury room. R.336-337 Over defense objections, the 
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judge elected instead to bring the jury back to the courtroom to 

view the video. R.337-342 

Also over defense objections, the judge required that the 

alternates be seated with the jurors when they viewed the video. 

R. 342-343, 344-347 

The verdict, judgment, and sentence. 

The jury found Mr. Bunney guilty of kidnapping and murder 

in the first degree. R.353, 773 At the conclusion of the penal- 

ty phase trial, the jury recommended that on the murder charge 

Mr. Bunney be sentenced to life imprisonment without possibility 

of parole for 25 years. R.618, 774 The judge followed the 

recommendation and imposed that sentence, consecutive to Mr. 

Bunney's sentence on the kidnapping conviction. R.784 

On the latter the judge sentenced Mr. Bunney to life in 

prison. R.782 This was a departure from the guidelines, which 

called for a sentence of 5 1/2 to 7 years. As his reason for 

the departure, the judge noted: "Scoresheet fails to take into 

consideration defendant also stands convicted of murder in the 

first degree arising out of the same criminal episode." R.785 

The district court's decision. 

On appeal Mr. Bunney challenged (1) the trial judge's 

exclusion of evidence regarding his epileptic seizure, (2) the 

prosecutor's speculation during closing argument that Mr. Bunney 

had intended to sexually molest the child, ( 3 )  the trial judge's 

insistence that the alternates join the jurors when reviewing 
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Mr. Bunney's videotaped statement, and ( 4 )  the sentencing guide- 

line departure based on his murder conviction. 

In its May 2 4 ,  1991 opinion the district court of appeal 

addressed only the first and fourth issues, and affirmed as to 

both. As to the latter, however, it certified that its decision 

passed on the following question of great public importance: 

IN SENTENCING FOR A FELONY WHERE THERE IS A CONTEMPORANEOUS 
CONVICTION OF AN UNSCORED CAPITAL FELONY, IS IT PROPER TO 
DEPART BASED ON THE DEFENDANT'S CAPITAL CONVICTION WHEN THE 
APPLICABLE GUIDELINES PROVIDE THAT VICTIM INJURY IS SCOREABLE? 

Opinion, p. 3 

Mr. Bunney commenced this review proceeding on June 18. 
2 

Summary of Argument 

I. Mr. Bunney's right to present evidence in his defense 

was violated by the exclusion of evidence tending to show that 

he acted while in the throes of an epileptic seizure. If Chest- 

nut v. State, was applicable to Mr. Bunney's case, it should be 

revisited because it was decided for policy reasons that are 

legislative. By excluding evidence that the defendant did not 

in fact have the requisite specific intent to commit first 

degree murder, the Chestnut majority effectively alters the 

statutory codification of the law of homicide as established by 

the legislature. 

Mr. Bunney was represented by the Public Defender for the 
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit at trial, and the Public Defender 
for the Tenth Judicial Circuit initially represented him on 
appeal. The undersigned was appointed as his counsel in the 
fall of 1990. 

2 
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In any event, Chestnut did not apply to Mr. Bunney's case. 

As the First District recently recognized, epilepsy is a physi- 

cal condition, not a mental defect, and evidence of it is there- 

fore admissible under Chestnut. Moreover, Chestnut ruled that 

evidence of a general inability to form a specific intent is 

inadmissible. It is not authority for excluding evidence that 

at t h e  t i m e  of t h e  o f f e n s e  Mr. Bunney lacked the requisite 

specific intent because he was suffering an epileptic seizure. 

II. Mr. Bunney was deprived of a fair trial by the pro- 

secutor's argument that Mr. Bunney planned to sexually molest 

the child when he took her from the trailer. There was abso- 

lutely no evidence to support the assertion, and it was made 

solely for the purpose of inflaming the jury. 

III. The trial judge committed fundamental error by insist- 

ing that the alternate jurors sit with the jury when it reviewed 

Mr. Bunney's videotaped statement in the course of its delibera- 

tions. Both trial attorneys acknowledged that Mr. Bunney's 

demeanor on the tape was of vital importance, and both urged the 

jurors to examine it with care. By ordering the alternates' 

intrusion into the deliberative process at that crucial point, 

the judge increased the likelihood that the jurors' finding of 

innocence or guilt would be influenced by the alternates' atti- 

tudes--their "facial expressions, gestures or the like". 

IV. It is not proper to depart from a guideline sentence 

on the basis of an unscored capital felony when the scoresheet

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