)@Tw/app.

FILED SID J. WHITE AUC 14 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD WAYNE BUNNEY,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 78,141

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

STEPHEN A. BAKÉR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0365645 2002 N. Lois Avenue Westwood Center, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PEGGY A. QUINCE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0261041 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366

CO-COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/hb

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant failed to preserve his first issue for appeal because he never raised the argument that an epileptic seizure incapacitated him during the murder. Additionally, given the tenor of Appellant's defenses at trial, epileptic incapacitation should have been raised, in the trial court, through the insanity defense. In any event, this issue is not encompassed within the certified question from the Second District Court of Appeal and should not be considered herein.

The issue concerning prosecutorial misconduct is not encompassed within the certified question and should not be considered by this Court.

The issue concerning the alternate juror's is not encompassed within the certified question and should not be considered by this Court.

A contemporaneous conviction for an unscorable capital felony is still a valid reason for departure. The 24 points added to the kidnapping scoresheet were hardly a substitute for a capital conviction departure, and were not intended to be. The departure is based upon the horrendous nature of a capital felony and, as such, forms the policy behind the departure.

- 3 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE HIS FIRST ISSUE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW?. WHETHER "EPILEPTIC INCAPACITATION" IS A DEFENSE THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED BY A PLEA OF INSANITY?.

For its answer to Petitioner's Issue I, Respondent relies on the arguments advanced in its brief in the court below and particularly readvances the argument that Petitioner has committed procedural default by not raising the instant issue with particularity in the trial court.

Additionally, and not by any waiver of the foregoing, Respondent offers the following additional comments.

In the trial court, Petitioner raised all kinds of "intent busting" theories of defense. However, unlike the situation in <u>Wise v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 329 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), absolutely no proffer was made which portrayed the "static" in Petitioner's head as a "running fit," which "is the psychomotor, partial complex epilepsy in which people will continue to engage in what appears to be purposeful behavior but they don't know what it is that they are doing". <u>Wise</u>, at 330. The question of whether epilepsy is actually a physical defect was never broached in the trial court. In <u>Wise</u>, the First District assumed that epilepsy is as physical an impairment as a broken leg and, accordingly,

- 4 -

was not governed by <u>Chestnut v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1989). In the instant case, Petitioner argued in the trial court that his "present mental makeup" rendered his conduct intentless and that there was a "medical and psychiatric basis" for the static in his head.¹ Consequently, inasmuch as Petitioner viewed his own theory(s) of defense as a mental one, he should now be held to it and be required to have asserted the insanity defense at trial.

Finally, this issue is not encompassed within the certified question from the Second District. Accordingly, it should not be considered by this Court. <u>Gould v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 1302 (Fla. 1991) at footnote 2.

¹ In <u>Wise</u>, the defendant couldn't remember anything about the killing yet Petitioner herein simply says that he felt "static" in his head while he recounted for detectives the details of his horrendous deed. Accordingly, it is manifestly impossible for Petitioner to fit his particular "static" story into the "running fit" theory as recognized in Wise.)

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S HAND GESTURES DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL? WHETHER THIS ISSUE IS ENCOMPASSED WITHIN THE CERTIFIED QUESTION?

Respondent relies on its arguments as laid out in its Answer Brief before the Second District and as reproduced herein in the Appendix. Additionally, this issue should not be considered by this Court inasmuch as it was not contained within the certified question. Gould, supra, at footnote 2.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE ALTERNATE JUROR'S TO REVIEW A VIDEO TAPE WHILE SEATED IN OPEN COURT WITH THE REST OF THE JUROR'S AND WHILE COUNSEL WAS PRESENT IN THE COURTOOM? WHETHER THIS ISSUE IS ENCOMPASSED WITHIN THE CERTIFIED QUESTION?

Respondent relies on its arguments as laid out in its Answer Brief before the Second District and as reproduced herein in the Appendix. Additionally, this issue should not be considered by this Court inasmuch as it was not contained within the certified question. <u>Gould</u>, supra, at footnote 2.

ISSUE IV

IN A SENTENCING FOR A FELONY WHERE THERE IS A CONTEMPORANEOUS CONVICTION OF AN UNSCORED CAPITAL FELONY, IS IT PROPER TO DEPART BASED ON THE DEFENDANT'S CAPITAL CONVICTION WHEN THE APPLICABLE GUIDELINES PROVIDE THAT VICTIM INJURY IS SCORABLE? (CERTIFIED QUESTION)

This is the only issue contained within the ambit of the certified question. Accordingly, this is the only issue that should be considered by this Court.

Petitioner challenges the long standing rule that a sentencing court can depart from the guidelines on the basis of a contemporaneous conviction for an unscorable capital felony. He says that because 24 points were already factored into the guidelines for the kidnapping conviction, (for victim injury) that the departure amounts to one based upon factors already taken into account on the scoresheet. He feels that the 24 points "shared" by both the kidnapping and capital murder convictions amount to both a "scoring" of the capital felony and an unlawful departure for the same. His reasoning is faulty.

If one were to follow Petitioner's reasoning, a contemporaneous capital felony would only be "worth" a mere 24 points on the guidelines and thus could never constitute grounds for departure unless the State was willing to forego assessing points for victim injury. Such is obviously not in keeping with the intent of the guidelines or the policy behind departing for a contemporaneous capital conviction.

- 8 -

The trial court did not depart because the victim was Rather, Petitioner earned the departure because the killed. heinous nature of an unscorable capital felony conviction is something this Court has deemed a sufficient reason for Hansbrough v. State, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987); departure. Livingston v. State, 565 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1988). The 24 points added for victim injury are attributable to the kidnapping conviction regardless of the capital felony by virtue of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure Re Sentencing Guidelines Rules (3.701 and 3.988), 509 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1987) as relied on by The reason for the departure was, thus, not the Petitioner. injury to the victim, but the dreadful and unscorable nature of the contemporaneous capital conviction.

One could consider a scenario where this Court approves a rule of criminal procedure whereby capital crimes not awarded the death penalty are thus "scored" on the guidelines. Is it at all reasonable to think that a mere 24 points would be assessed for Of course not. It is equally unreasonable to such a crime? think that the 24 points for victim injury scored by the kidnapping conviction constitutes sufficient punishment so as not to warrant a departure sentence based upon the contemporaneous capital felony. Victim injury may well be already factored into the guidelines, but the contemporaneous conviction for a cruel capital felony is not. Accordingly, the policy behind departing based upon the contemporaneous conviction for a capital felony is still served regardless of the rule allowing for the scoring of victim injury in this case.

- 9 -

Furthermore, if the 24 points for victim injury were subtracted from the guidelines for, arguendo, the sake of not punishing Petitioner twice for factors already considered in the guidelines, it is undisputable that the trial court could still depart based upon the capital felony. Inasmuch as the extent of the departure is no longer reviewable, any range achieved absent the 24 points could be departed from, with impunity, all the way up to life in prison. Accordingly, regardless of the addition of victim injury points for the conviction of any felony committed along with the capital crime, departure to the statutory maximum can always be achieved. Such was true before the change in the Rules, such is true after.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the decision of the district court should be affirmed.